
City of Kelowna
Public Hearing

AGENDA
 

Tuesday, June 30, 2015

6:00 pm

Council Chamber

City Hall, 1435 Water Street
Pages

1. Call to Order

THE CHAIR WILL CALL THE HEARING TO ORDER:

1.     (a)    The purpose of this Hearing is to consider certain bylaws which, if adopted,
shall amend Kelowna 2030 - Official Community Plan Bylaw No. 10500 and Zoning
Bylaw No. 8000.

(b)   All persons who believe that their interest in property is affected by the proposed
bylaws shall be afforded a reasonable opportunity to be heard or to present written
submissions respecting matters contained in the bylaws that are the subject of this
hearing.  This Hearing is open to the public and all representations to Council form
part of the public record.  A live audio feed may be broadcast and recorded by
Castanet.

(c)   All information, correspondence, petitions or reports that have been received
concerning the subject bylaws have been made available to the public.  The
correspondence and petitions received after June 16, 2015 (date of notification) are
available for inspection during the course of this hearing and are located on the
information table in the foyer of the Council Chamber.

(d)   Council debate on the proposed bylaws is scheduled to take place during the
Regular Council meeting after the conclusion of this Hearing. It should be noted,
however, that for some items a final decision may not be able to be reached tonight.

(e)   It must be emphasized that Council will not receive any representation from the
applicant or members of the public after conclusion of this Public Hearing.

2. Notification of Meeting

The City Clerk will provide information as to how the Hearing was publicized.

1



3. Individual Bylaw Submissions

3.1 205 Lougheed Road, BL11100 (TA14-0021), BL11101 (OCP14-0023) & BL11102
(Z14-0048) - Watermark Ventures Ltd.

4 - 53

To create the CD25 – Light Industrial / Residential Mixed Use zone and to
rezone the subject property to CD25 – Light Industrial / Residential Mixed Use
zone in order to develop a 9 residential unit and 9 industrial unit development.

3.2 883 McCurdy Place, BL11104 (Z15-0012) - Hyatt Auto Sales Ltd. 54 - 59

To consider a Rezoning application to rezone the subject property from the I1 –
Business Industrial zone to the I2 – General Industrial zone to allow general
industrial uses with outdoor storage.

4. Adjourn to Regular Meeting

5. Reconvene Public Hearing

6. Individual Bylaw Submissions

6.1 700 Highway 33 East, TA15-0002 - Hillcrest Farm Market Inc. 60 - 103

To amend the A1 – Agriculture 1 zone to permit the use of a primary food
establishment (Café) at 700 Hwy 33 E in accordance with Agricutlural Land
Commission Resolution # 101/2014.

7. Terminate Public Hearing and Reconvene Regular Meeting

8. Procedure on each Bylaw Submission

(a)     Brief description of the application by City Staff (Land Use Management);

(b)     The Chair will request that the City Clerk indicate all information,
correspondence, petitions or reports received for the record.

(c)     The applicant is requested to make representation to Council regarding the
project and is encouraged to limit their presentation to 15 minutes.

(d)     The Chair will call for representation from the public in attendance as follows:

    (i)     The microphone at the public podium has been provided for any person(s)
wishing to make representation at the Hearing.

     (ii)     The Chair will recognize ONLY speakers at the podium.

     (iii)     Speakers are encouraged to limit their remarks to 5 minutes, however, if
they have additional information they may address Council again after all other
members of the public have been heard a first time.

2



(e)     Once the public has had an opportunity to comment, the applicant is given an
opportunity to respond to any questions raised.  The applicant is requested to keep
the response to a total of 10 minutes maximum.

(f)     Questions by staff by members of Council must be asked before the Public
Hearing is closed and not during debate of the bylaw at the Regular Meeting, unless
for clarification.

(g)     Final calls for respresentation (ask three times).  Unless Council directs that the
Public Hearing on the bylaw in question be held open, the Chair shall state to the
gallery that the Public Hearing on the Bylaw is closed.

Note:  Any applicant or member of the public may use visual aids (e.g. photographs,
sketches, slideshows, etc.) to assist in their presentation or questions.  The computer
and ELMO document camera at the public podium are available.  Please ask staff for
assistance prior to your item if required.

3



REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
 
 

Date: 1/16/2015 

RIM No. 1250-30 

To: City Manager 

From: Urban Planning, Community Planning & Real Estate (AC) 

Application: 
OCP14-0023, Z14-0048 & TA14-
0021 

Owner: Watermark Ventures Ltd.  

Address: 205 Lougheed Road Applicant: CTQ Consultants Ltd. 

Subject: Rezoning and Text Amendment Application  

Existing OCP Designation: IND - Industrial  

Proposed OCP Designation: IND-T Industrial – Transitional 

Existing Zone: I1 – Business Industrial 

Proposed Zone: CD25 – Light Industrial / Residential Mixed Use Zone 

 

1.0 Recommendation 

THAT Zoning Bylaw Text Amendment No. TA14-0021 to amend City of Kelowna Zoning Bylaw No. 
8000 by amending Section 18 Comprehensive Development Zones as outlined in Schedule ‘A’, be 
considered by Council. 

AND THAT Official Community Plan Amendment Application No. OCP14-0023 to amend the City of 
Kelowna Official Community Plan Bylaw No. 10500 by changing the Future Land Use designation 
of Lot A, Section 2, Township 23, ODYD, Plan KAP84518, located on 205 Lougheed Road, Kelowna, 
BC from IND – Industrial to IND-T Industrial - Transitional  designation, be considered by Council; 

AND THAT Rezoning Application No. Z14-0048 to amend the City of Kelowna Zoning Bylaw No. 
8000 by changing the zoning classification of Lot A, Section 2, Township 23, ODYD, Plan 
KAP84518, located on 205 Lougheed Road, Kelowna, BC from the I1 – Business Industrial zone to 
CD25 – Light Industrial / Residential Mixed Use zone, be considered by Council; 

AND THAT the Zone Amending Bylaw, OCP Amending Bylaw, and Text Amendment Bylaw be 
forwarded to a Public Hearing for further consideration; 

AND THAT final adoption of the Zone Amending Bylaw be subsequent to the following: 

1. Requirements of Development Engineering Branch being completed to their 
satisfaction;  

4



OCP14-0023, Z14-0048 & TA14-0021 – Page 2 

 
AND FURTHER THAT Council direct Staff not to support any further industrial / residential mixed 
use applications until after Staff has reviewed the success of this application (1 year after 
occupancy permit has been granted for this development). 

2.0 Purpose  

To create the CD25 – Light Industrial / Residential Mixed Use zone and to rezone the subject 
property to CD25 – Light Industrial / Residential Mixed Use zone in order to develop a 9 
residential unit and 9 industrial unit development. 

3.0 Urban Planning 

The Official Community Plan (OCP) designates the area as industrial which does not permit any 
residential uses. However, the Advisory Planning Commission and the previous Council endorsed 
an affordable housing strategy that stated the idea of mixing industrial and residential land uses 
should be explored. Therefore, Staff support the proposed OCP amendment, text amendment 
and rezoning to the CD25 – Light Industrial / Residential Mixed Use Zone as an experimental land 
use case study. Further, Staff recommends that Council not consider any further mixed industrial 
/ residential applications until this development can be evaluated for its success at mitigating 
the inherent land use conflicts.  

The founding principles of zoning and planning were to separate incompatible uses such as 
polluting industrial uses and residential uses. Ironically, recent planning trends have seen many 
previously thought incompatible uses with residential uses being mixed together. The City of 
Kelowna is not the only City considering mixed industrial and residential uses. The City of 
Vancouver is considering a residential-industrial project in the Strathcona Village area (see 
attached media article). 

This application to mix light industrial uses with residential uses is seen as a way to facilitate 
affordable housing. The applicant explains the compatibility between the proposed residential 
and industrial uses will be controlled through the zoning regulations and within the strata bylaws 
(limiting the hours of operation for the industrial component). Further, the strata corporation 
could provide within their bylaws, notification to each industrial and residential tenant that they 
are living / operating within a mixed-use development.  

The residential units may attract buyers/tenants that typically desire an affiliation with an 
industrial shop/work space. However, there will be no restrictions on who can occupy the units. 
The applicant feels that the volume of delivery trucks and vehicle trips will not pose a problem 
as sufficient and dedicated parking spaces, garages, and loading areas have been made available 
on the site. However, each residential unit only has access to one immediately adjacent parking 
stall. This increases the probability that residential parking may intermingle with the industrial 
parking. Each residential parking garage and residential unit will not be permitted to be 
converted into expanded industrial space as indicated in the proposed zoning regulations. This 
should avoid any potential “creep” of industrial activity into the residential area on the upper 
floor. Further, on-site storage of goods and materials for the businesses would be located indoors 
as outdoor storage is prohibited in the proposed CD-25 zone. 

While the overall intent of this application is generally consistent with OCP policy, it should be 
noted that residential uses in industrial areas should be monitored as recommended in the 
Housing Strategy and Staff’s recommendation. The purpose is to protect lands to serve industrial 
needs and to limit potential conflict between industrial and residential uses, which could 
threaten the viability of existing and future industrial operations.   

If the zoning, OCP, and text amendment applications are approved, a Development Permit will 
be necessary to approve the form and character of the proposed development. Currently, there 

5



OCP14-0023, Z14-0048 & TA14-0021 – Page 3 

 
remains unresolved design issues which will be resolved at Development Permit stage. These 
include: 

- Minimum distance to residential units for fire department access. 
- Maximum turning radius for fire department driveway access. 

The applicant is required to hire a civil engineer to determine the finished grading prior to 
resolving the above issues. The applicant wished to gain approval of the proposed land use prior 
to engaging a civil engineer. 

In fulfillment of Council Policy No. 367 respecting public consultation, the applicant undertook 
neighbour consultation program including a information session which was held on March 24th 
2015. The details of the consultation are described in the Council Report ‘Attachments’. The 
neighbouring residents brought up the following questions: 

 Stability of slope below the residential area; 

 Views overtop of the building; 

 Access into the site and assurance that traffic would not have to go into their residential 
area; 

 Type of use.  

4.0 Proposal 

4.1 Project Description 

The applicant is proposing to rezone the subject property to allow a mixed use industrial and 
residential vertically-integrated building, located at 205 Lougheed Road. The subject property is 
situated between a light industrial precinct to the east (Hollywood Road) and a residential 
neighbourhood to the west (College Heights). The applicant is proposing to achieve the mixed 
uses into a single building regulated by a custom Comprehensive Development (CD) zone.  

The uses permitted in the proposed CD zone are limited to light industrial uses (see attached CD 
zone). Residential development is only permitted above the first floor, and industrial uses are 
only permitted on the first floor. Industrial uses that were not included are: recycling depot, 
automotive repair, bulk fuel depots, gas bars, and other medium / heavy industrial uses. Typical 
industrial uses that are proposed include: commercial storage, equipment rentals, industrial high 
technology research and product design, custom indoor manufacturing, as well as other light 
industrial uses (for a full list industrial uses see the attached proposed Comprehensive 
Development zone). 

The applicant’s rationale letter states that the overlap in parking needs (hours of day) between 
industry workers / customers, and the residential tenants can be managed by the Strata 
Corporation and the City would not be responsible for regulating such issues. This provides some 
comfort to City Staff that the parking issues will be managed.  

Light exposure and high illumination will be limited through the proposed zoning regulations and 
Development Permit guidelines. Regulations will help mitigate the lighting impacts on the 
residents in the evenings and night time while considering the needs of the industrial tenants to 
have sufficient illumination. 

4.2 Site Context 

The site is approximately 15,898 m2 in area and is located within an Industrial area. The subject 
parcel is located adjacent to the College Heights bareland strata housing development. The 

6



OCP14-0023, Z14-0048 & TA14-0021 – Page 4 

 
subject property is designated as Industrial (IND) in the OCP and the lot is within the Permanent 
Growth Boundary. Specifically, the adjacent land uses are as follows: 

Orientation Zoning Land Use 

North 
RU5 – Bareland Strata Housing 
I1 – Business Industrial 

Vacant 
Industrial 

East I1 – Business Industrial Industrial 

South 
RU5 – Bareland Strata Housing 
I1 – Business Industrial 

Residential 
Industrial 

West RU5 – Bareland Strata Housing Residential 

 

Subject Property Map: 205 Lougheed Ave 

 

4.3 Zoning Analysis 

See the attached CD-25 zone (Schedule ‘A’). 

5.0 Current Development Policies  

5.1 Kelowna Official Community Plan (OCP) 

Development Process 

Compact Urban Form.1 Develop a compact urban form that maximizes the use of existing 
infrastructure and contributes to energy efficient settlement patterns. This will be done by 
increasing densities (approximately 75 - 100 people and/or jobs located within a 400 metre 
walking distance of transit stops is required to support the level of transit service) through 

                                                      
1 City of Kelowna Official Community Plan, Policy 5.3.2 (Development Process Chapter). 

7



OCP14-0023, Z14-0048 & TA14-0021 – Page 5 

 
development, conversion, and re-development within Urban Centres (see Map 5.3) in particular 
and existing areas as per the provisions of the Generalized Future Land Use Map 4.1. 

Sensitive Infill.2 Encourage new development or redevelopment in existing residential areas to 
be sensitive to or reflect the character of the neighbourhood with respect to building design, 
height, and siting. 

Industrial – Transition3. Light industrial and residential uses located in areas as a transition 
between industrial and residential that must include provision for residential use as live / work 
space. Generally the residential component would be adjacent to nearby residential uses and the 
industrial component would be adjacent to nearby industrial uses. 

The Official Community Plan (OCP) designates the subject property as industrial which does not 
permit any residential uses, with the exception of a security operator unit. The proposed 
designation, Industrial – Transitional (IND-T), fits the proposed land uses. That designation states  

“Light industrial and residential uses located in areas as a transition between industrial 
and residential that must include provision for residential use as live / work space. 
Generally the residential component would be adjacent to residential uses and the 
industrial component would be adjacent to nearby industrial uses.” 

The subject property meets the criteria stated above with the exception of live / work space. All 
the residential and industrial units will have separate entrances. The location of the site fits the 
transitional industrial goal as there is residential located to the west and up the hill while being 
located adjacent to a future arterial road and an established industrial area to the east and down 
the hill.   

The City of Kelowna’s Housing Strategy recommended:  

"Housing as Secondary to Light Industrial:  
Create policy to explore limited expansion of housing options as secondary uses in 
light/transitional industrial areas."   

This was thought to be a way to create housing that may be less costly but attractive to specific 
populations like young working people and students.  This recommendation was adopted into the 
Official Community Plan as Policy 5.29.2, Secondary Housing in Light Industrial Areas, supports 
consideration of "limited expansion of housing as a secondary use within industrial buildings in 
light or transitional industrial areas." Further the OCP’s future land use designation definition of 
Industrial (IND) states that it may also include Comprehensive Development (CD) zoning that 
provides for industrial uses. 

6.0 Technical Comments  

6.1 Building & Permitting Department 

a) Development Cost Charges (DCC’s) are required to be paid prior to issuance of any 
Building Permit(s)  

b) A Building Code analysis is required for the structure at time of building permit 
applications, but the following items may affect the form and character of the building(s): 

c) Any security system that limits access to exiting needs to be addressed in the code 
analysis by the architect. 

d) Access to the roof is required per NFPA and guard rails may be required and should be 
reflected in the plans if required.  

                                                      
2 City of Kelowna Official Community Plan, Policy 5.22.6 (Development Process Chapter). 
3 City of Kelowna Official Community Plan, Chapter 4 (Future Land Use). 

8



OCP14-0023, Z14-0048 & TA14-0021 – Page 6 

 
e) A second exit will be required for the upper storey deck that all the units access 

f) A Geotechnical report is required to address the sub soil conditions and site drainage at 
time of building permit application. 

g) Guards are required for all decks and parking areas. The drawings provided don’t clearly 
identification of compliance to these minimum requirements, but will be reviewed at 
time of building permit application. The appearance of these guards may affect the form 
and character of the building. 

h) Fire resistance ratings are required for storage, janitor and/or garbage enclosure room(s). 
The drawings submitted for building permit is to clearly identify how this rating will be 
achieved and where these area(s) are located. 

i) An exit analysis is required as part of the code analysis at time of building permit 
application. The exit analysis is to address travel distances within the units, number of 
required exits per area, door swing direction, handrails on each side of exit stairs, width 
of exits etc. 

6.2 Development Engineering 

 See attached 

6.3 Fire Department 

a) Construction fire safety plan is required to be submitted and reviewed prior to 
construction and updated as required.  

b) A visible address must be posted on Lougheed depending on access as per City of Kelowna 
By-Laws.  

c) Sprinkler drawings are to be submitted to the Fire Dept. for review when available. 
Ensure that isolation valves are at an acceptable level as per the COK Bylaw 10760.  

d) A fire safety plan as per section 2.8 BCFC is required at occupancy. The fire safety plan 
and floor plans are to be submitted for approval in AutoCAD Drawing format on a CD or 
DVD to facilitate Fire Department pre-planning for this structure. The fire safety plan 
should clearly detail the unique requirements for this structure. A copy of the sprinkler 
system owner’s certificate is to be included in the fire safety plan.  

e) Fire Department access is to be met as per BCBC 3.2.5.6 - access to the residential area 
with a place to turn around?  

f) Fire Department steel lock box or key tube acceptable to the fire dept. is required by the 
fire dept. entrance. Kurt’s Lock & Safe at 100A – 1021 Ellis Street, Kelowna is the 
approved supplier for flush mount lock boxes.  

g) All requirements of the City of Kelowna Fire and Life Safety Bylaw 10760 shall be met.  

h) Fire alarm system is to be monitored by an agency meeting the CAN/ULC S562 Standard.  

i) Contact Fire Prevention Branch for fire extinguisher requirements and placement.  

j) Fire department connection is to be within 45M of a fire hydrant – please ensure this is 
possible and that the FD connection is clearly marked and visible from the street. 

 

 

9



OCP14-0023, Z14-0048 & TA14-0021 – Page 7 

 
7.0 Application Chronology  

Date of Application Received: October 3rd 2014 
Date of Public consultation: March 30th 2015 

Report prepared by: 

     
Adam Cseke, Planner   
 
 

Reviewed by:    Ryan Smith, Urban Planning Manager 
 

Attachments:  

Subject Property Map 
Applicant’s rationale 
Proposed CD-25 zone 
Application Package 
Development Engineering Comments dated Oct 28th 2014 
Strathcona Village news article (January 20th 2015) 

10



11



12



13



14



15



16



17



18



19



20



21



22



23



24



25



26



27



28



29



30



31



32



33



34



35



36



37



38



39



40



41



42



43



44



45



46



47



48



49



50



51



52



53



REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
 
 

Date: June 15, 2015 

RIM No. 1250-30 

To: City Manager 

From: Urban Planning, Community Planning & Real Estate (LB) 

Application: Z15-0012 Owner: Hyatt Auto Sales Ltd. 

Address: 883 McCurdy Place Applicant: Hyatt Auto Sales Ltd. 

Subject: Rezoning Application  

Existing OCP Designation: IND – Industrial  

Existing Zone: I1 – Business Industrial 

Proposed Zone: I2 – General Industrial 

 

1.0 Recommendation 

THAT Rezoning Application No.Z15-0012 to amend the City of Kelowna Zoning Bylaw No. 8000 by 
changing the zoning classification of Strata Lot 25, District Lot 124, ODYD, Strata Plan KAS3323, 
Together with an interest in the common property in proportion to the unit entitlement of the 
Strata Lot as shown on Form V, located on 883 McCurdy Place, Kelowna, BC from the I1 – Business 
Industrial zone to the I2 – General Industrial zone be considered by Council; 

AND THAT the Zone Amending Bylaw be forwarded to a Public Hearing for further consideration; 

AND FURTHER THAT final adoption of the Zone Amending Bylaw be considered subsequent to the 
requirements of the Ministry of Transportation and Infrastructure being completed to their 
satisfaction. 

2.0 Purpose  

To consider a Rezoning application to rezone the subject property from the I1 – Business 
Industrial zone to the I2 – General Industrial zone to allow general industrial uses with outdoor 
storage. 

3.0 Urban Planning  

Urban Planning Staff supports the proposal to rezone the subject property from the I1 – Business 
Industrial zone to the I2 – General Industrial zone to allow general industrial uses with outdoor 
storage on the subject property. The Official Community Plan supports more intensive use of 
under-utilized industrial sites, and encourages protection of existing industrial land. Rezoning the 

54



Z15-0012 – Page 2 

 
 

subject property to the I2 zone protects the industrial land supply and supports more efficient 
use of industrial sites in this area.  

The main differences between the I1 and I2 zones are the permitted uses and regulations 
regarding outdoor storage. The I1 zone allows some light industrial and office uses, with very 
limited outdoor storage. The I2 zone permits a greater range of industrial uses and fewer 
restrictions on outdoor storage. Offices are not a permitted use in the I2 zone.  

In fulfillment of Council Policy No. 367 respecting public consultation, the applicant undertook 
neighbour consultation by presenting the proposed rezoning at the Marshall Business Centre 
Strata Annual General Meeting on March 30, 2015. The strata owners, which include all properties 
within the required 50 m consultation area, have indicated support for the rezoning. To date, 
staff have not been contacted with any questions or concerns. 

4.0 Proposal 

4.1 Background 

The Marshall Business Centre was created as a bareland strata industrial park in 2007 through 
rezoning and subdivision of a former feedlot. The lots on the outside of McCurdy Place are zoned 
I2 and the inside lots were all originally zoned I1, intended for light industrial and office uses 
with limited outdoor storage. Several of the outer lots zoned I2 have been purchased and 
developed with various general industrial uses, including automotive, motorcycle and minor 
recreational vehicle retailers, manufacturing, and equipment sales and rentals. The majority of 
these uses involve some outdoor storage on the property. 

One inner lot zoned I1 was developed in 2012 with two multi-unit buildings, on 840-842 McCurdy 
Place. Some units are occupied while others remain vacant, and there has been little interest in 
developing other lots under the I1 zone. In February 2015, five inner lots were rezoned from I1 to 
I2 to respond to the demand for industrial property zoned I2. 

4.2 Site Context 

The subject property is located within the Marshall Business Centre, southwest of the 
intersection of McCurdy Road and Highway 97 in the City’s Highway 97 Sector. The property is 
designated IND – Industrial in the Official Community Plan and is within the Permanent Growth 
Boundary. The area surrounding the property is industrial. 

Specifically, adjacent land uses are as follows: 

Orientation Zoning Land Use 

North I1 – Business Industrial Vacant 

East I2 – General Industrial General industrial 

South I2 – General Industrial Vacant 

West I2 – General Industrial Vacant 

 

  

55



Z15-0012 – Page 3 

 
 

Subject Property Map: 883 McCurdy Place 

 

 

5.0 Current Development Policies  

5.1 Kelowna Official Community Plan (OCP) 

Development Process 

Industrial Land Use Intensification.1 Encourage more intensive industrial use of currently under-
utilized industrial sites during site redevelopment or by permitting lot subdivision where new lots 
can meet the minimum lot size requirements of the Zoning Bylaw. 

Industrial Supply Protection.2 Protect existing industrial lands from conversion to other land 
uses by not supporting the rezoning of industrial land to preclude industrial activities unless there 
are environmental reasons for encouraging a change of use. 

6.0 Technical Comments  

6.1 Building & Permitting Department 

 No comments. 

6.2 Development Engineering Department 

 See attached memorandum, dated April 8, 2015. 

 

 

                                                
1 City of Kelowna Official Community Plan, Policy 5.29.1 (Development Process Chapter). 
2 City of Kelowna Official Community Plan, Policy 5.30.1 (Development Process Chapter). 

56



Z15-0012 – Page 4 

 
 

6.3 FortisBC - Electric 

 There are primary distribution facilities along McCurdy Place. The applicant is responsible 
for costs associated with any change to the subject property’s existing service, if any, as 
well as the provision of appropriate land rights where required. 

7.0 Application Chronology  

Date of Application Received:  March 19, 2015  
Date Public Consultation Completed: March 30, 2015  
 

Report prepared by: 

     
Laura Bentley, Planner 
 
 

Reviewed by:    Lindsey Ganczar, Urban Planning Supervisor 
 

Approved for Inclusion:  Ryan Smith, Urban Planning Manager 
 
 

Attachments:  

Subject Property Map 
Development Engineering Memorandum 

57



58



59



REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
 
 

Date: May 4, 2015 

RIM No. 1250-30 

To: City Manager 

From: Subdivision, Agriculture & Environment Services (MS) 

Application: TA15-0002 Owner: Hillcrest Farm Market Inc. 

Address: 700 Hwy 33 E  Applicant: 
Chanchal Bal 
Barbara Bal 

Subject: 
Text Amendment to the A1 – Agriculture Zone to allow a Non-Farm Use (Café) 
at 700 Hwy 33 E  

Existing OCP Designation: Resource Protection Area (REP) 

Existing Zone: A1 - Agriculture 

 

1.0 Recommendation 

THAT Zoning Bylaw Text Amendment No TA15-0002 to amend City of Kelowna Zoning Bylaw No. 
8000 as outlined in the Report by the Subdivision, Agriculture & Environment Department dated 
May 4, 2015 for Lot A, Section 24, Township 26, ODYD, Plan EPP7145 located at 700 Highway 33 
East, Kelowna, BC be considered by Council;  

AND THAT  the Text Amendment Bylaw be forwarded to a Public Hearing for futher 
consideration; 

AND THAT final adoption of the Text Amendment Bylaw be considered subsequent to the 
registration of a Section 219 Restrictive Covenant that restricts the Non-Farm Use of a Café to 
the existing owners only and is non-transferable, in accordance with the ALC Resolution 
#101/2014; 

AND FURTHER THAT final adoption of the Text Amendment Bylaw be considered subsequent to 
the requirements of the Development Engineering Branch, the Real Estate Department, the 
Subdivision, Agriculture & Environment Department, the Ministry of Transportation and 
Infrastructure, and the Black Mountain Irrigation District. 

2.0 Purpose 

To amend the A1 – Agriculture zone to permit the use of a primary food establishment (Café) at 
700 Hwy 33 E in accordance with Agriculture Land Commission Resolution # 101/ 2014. 

3.0 Subdivision, Agriculture & Environment Services  

In 2014, Hillcrest Farm applied to the Agriculture Land Commission (ALC)  for authorization to 
allow the Non-Farm Use of a ‘primary food establishment’ (café) along Hwy 33 E. The café was 
established without prior authorization by the City of Kelowna nor the Agricultural Land 
Commission (ALC) and is not a permitted use under the Agricultural Land Reserve Use, 

60



TA14-0002 – Page 2 

 
 

Subdivision and Procedure Regulation1 (the Regulation). The applicants subsequently applied for 
a Non-Farm Use to allow the café use and in March of 2014 received Resolution #101/2014 
(attached) to allow the use under the following conditions: 

1. That the café be limited to its current size and that there be submission of 
notification or an application to the Commission should there be plans in the 
future for any significant changes or plans to expand the current footprint. 

2. Approval for non-farm use is granted for the sole benefit of the applicant and is 
non-transferable. 

The café includes 272 square feet of indoor and 372 square feet of outdoor seating for in addition 
to the display and retail sales area.  

Staff notes that retail sales is considered an ‘ancilliary farm use’ under the Regulation as long as 
50% of the product is grown on the farm and the area does not exceed 300 square metres. 

Staff supports the text amendment for the subject property together with the conditions as 
resolved by the ALC (ALC Resolution attached), as well as the completion of outstanding bylaw 
and real estate issues noted through the circulation process, including: 

 Resolution of the loading dock location and number of access roads; 

 Resolution of the sign location; 

 Covenant on property that the use of the café will not transfer to future owners (in 
accordance with ALC Resolution #101/2014; 

 Covenant on property that the café will not expand beyond the size approved by the ALC, 
without a resolution from the ALC authorizing the same; and 

 Submission of a Non-farm Use application for weddings / events on the property. 

4.0 Proposal 

4.1 Background 

The subject property is part of a larger agricultural operation (three properties totalling 
approximately 35 hectares).  In addition to these parcels, the owners of the subject property also 
own additional agricultural parcels elsewhere (i.e. McCurdy Road). 

In November 2010, the landowner was issued a Building Permit to construct an approximately 800 
m2 accessory structure with two floors (i.e. ~400 m2/floor).  The Building Permit plans provided 
to the City reflected a main floor which was largely dedicated to the display and sale of fruit and 
vegetables with pie and jam preparation areas, large coolers and office space.  All seating 
appeared as picnic tables outside under the covered entry.  The second floor was shown with a 
four unit Bed & Breakfast facility with a manager/operator’s suite as is required to conduct this 
use.  Building Department staff reviewed the plans submitted and made the following conditions 
of the issued Building Permit: 

2. See attached ALC Policy #2 dated March 2003 ACTIVITIES DESIGNATED AS FARM USE: 

FARM RETAIL SALES IN THE ALR.  Be advised that all of the farm product offered for sale 

must be produced on the farm on which the retail sales are taking place as the retail sales 

area exceeds the max 300 m2. 

                                                
1
 RSBC, 2002. Agricultural Land Reserve Use, Subdivision and Procedure Regulation, incl. Amendments up 

to  BC Reg. 167/2014. http://www.bclaws.ca/civix/document/id/complete/statreg/171_2002 

61

http://www.bclaws.ca/civix/document/id/complete/statreg/171_2002


TA14-0002 – Page 3 

 
 

Building Department staff correctly noted that due to the size, to operate the building as 
proposed, the landowners may only retail farm product produced on this parcel or others 
operated by them.   

However, the building was not constructed as proposed.  Rather, the southern portion of the 
structure was altered to a café format with interior seating (see attached as-built floor plan and 
photos).  The café currently occupies approximately 276 ft2 indoors and 372 ft2 outdoor 
exclusively.  The café also occupies other areas of the structure which is estimated by the 
applicant to be an additional 1,090 ft2 with shared areas including the kitchen, pie preparation 
area and washrooms. 

A café is a use consistent with a “Food Primary Establishment”.  The use is not however, a 
permitted use in the ALR or in the City’s A1 – Agriculture zone.  An exception is where a Food 
Primary Establishment is developed in conjunction with a winery or cidery.   

The Hillcrest Farm Market Café as it is referred, began operating in the summer of 2012 and has 
been operating since that time.  The business is being operated without a City issued business 
license which cannot be issued given the non-conforming use in the zone and  City Bylaw Services 
staff have been seeking compliance since this time.  This application addresses the legalization 
of this use. 

4.2 Project Description 

Staff recommends that the A1-Agriculture zone be amendment to include the ALC Resolution # 
101/2014, to permit the use of a ‘primary food establishment’ at 700 Hwy 33 E, as outlined in 
Attachment A. 

4.3 Site Context 

The subject property is located east of Highway 33 E at the intersection with Springfield Road in 
the Rutland Sector.  The site area is ~5.8 hectares (14.3 acres) and the site elevation varies 
between 457 and 493 metres.  The subject property includes a ~0.22 ha hooked portion (across 
Hwy 33 E) which is zoned RU1 – Large Lot Housing.  

Map 1 - Subject Property – 700 Highway 33 E 

62



TA14-0002 – Page 4 

 
 

 

The subject property is at an urban/rural interface area with the Permanent Growth Boundary 
directly across Highway 33 (to the west).  The large road cross section (averaging approximately 
50 metres) does however provide extensive buffering from farm practices. Zoning and land uses 
adjacent to the property are as follows: 

Direction Zoning ALR Land Use 

North A1 – Agriculture 1 Yes Orchard 

South 
A1 – Agriculture 1 

Roadway 

Yes 

No 

Rural Residential 

Highway 

East A1 – Agriculture 1 Yes Rural/agricultural 

West 
A1 – Agriculture 1 

RU1 – Large Lot Housing 

Yes 

No 

Rural/agricultural 

Residential 

Map 2 – Hillcrest Farm Structures 

63



TA14-0002 – Page 5 

 
 

 

4.4 Current Development Policies 

4.5 Kelowna Official Community Plan (OCP) 

The subject property has a future land use designation of Resource Protection Area and relevant 
policies are included below: 

Objective 5.33 Protect and enhance local agriculture2. 

Policy. 1 Protect Agricultural Land. Retain the agricultural land base by supporting the ALR and 
by protecting agricultural lands from development, except as otherwise noted in the City of 
Kelowna Agricultural Plan. Ensure that the primary use of agricultural land is agriculture, 
regardless of parcel size. 

Policy .3 Urban Uses. Direct urban uses to lands within the urban portion of the Permanent 
Growth Boundary, in the interest of reducing development and speculative pressure on 
agricultural lands. 

Policy .7 Non-farm Uses. Support non-farm use applications on agricultural lands only where 
approved by the ALC and where the proposed uses: 

 are consistent with the Zoning Bylaw and OCP; 

 provide significant benefits to local agriculture; 

 can be accommodated using existing municipal infrastructure; 

 minimize impacts on productive agricultural lands; 

 will not preclude future use of the lands for agriculture; 

 will not harm adjacent farm operations. 

Objective 5.34 Preserve productive agricultural land3. 

Policy .3 Homeplating. Locate buildings and structures, including farm help housing and farm 
retail sales area and structures, on agricultural parcels in close proximity to one another and 
where appropriate, near the existing road frontage. The goal should be to maximize use of 
existing infrastructure and reduce impacts on productive agricultural lands. 

                                                
2 City of Kelowna 2030 Official Community Plan: Greening Our Future (2011), Development Process Chapter; p. 5.33.  
3 City of Kelowna 2030 Official Community Plan: Greening Our Future (2011), Development Process Chapter; p. 5.34.  

Cooler (lower) 

Worker Housing (upper)  

Packing Plant/ 

Offices 

Farm Worker 

Dwelling 

Farm Market/Café (lower) 

Bed & Breakfast (upper)  

64



TA14-0002 – Page 6 

 
 

4.1 City of Kelowna Agriculture Plan (1998) 

Farm Retail Sales 

For some time the use of agricultural land to sell products grown or reared on that farm 
operation has been permitted within the ALR. In addition, it was possible to receive permission 
from the Land Commission to sell products not produced on site under Regulation 313/78. In 
recognizing that farm retail sales contribute to the productive use of farmland without 
interfering or prohibiting agriculture the Land Commission has acknowledged the traditional role 
of marketing of farm products, particularly in the Okanagan. The Land Commission has 
established a policy that encourages retail activity associated with the direct sale of farm 
products, processed farm products, and some off-farm products subject to that portion of the 
retail sales building used for the sale of off farm products does not exceed one-third of the 
building floor area, up to a maximum of 100 square metres. In addition, where off-farm products 
are sold, farm products and processed farm products must also concurrently be offered for sale. 

ALR Application Criteria4 

Exclusion, subdivision, or non-farm use of ALR lands will generally not be supported.  General 
non-support for ALR applications is in the interest of protecting farmland through retention of 
larger parcels, protection of the land base from impacts of urban encroachment, reducing land 
speculation and the cost of entering the farm business, and encouraging increased farm 
capitalization. 

Economic Enhancement Policies5 

29. Integration. Support the establishment of a process to consider, in addition to the promotion 
of agri-tourism and direct farm marketing businesses within the community, an integrated 
approach that creates linkages to the cultural and heritage tourism sectors, in terms of marketing 
an identity of Kelowna. 

4.2 Zoning Bylaw 

11.1.7 (c) Agricultural and garden stands selling only produce grown on the site or another site 
operated by the same producer do not have a maximum area. The maximum gross floor area of 
stands selling produce that is produced off-site shall be 50.0 m². For sites within the Agricultural 
Land Reserve, the maximum gross floor area of agricultural and garden sales for produce 
produced off-site or off-farm products shall be the lesser of one-third of the total floor area of 
the agricultural and garden sales stand or 100.0 m². 

4.3 Agricultural Land Reserve Use, Subdivision and Procedure Regulation 

Section 2 (2) The following activities are designated as farm use for the purposes of the Act and 
may be regulated but must not be prohibited by any local government bylaw except a bylaw 
under Section 917 of the Local Government Act:  

(a) farm retail sales if  
(i) all of the farm product offered for sale is produced on the farm on which the 
retail sales are taking place, or  
(ii) at least 50% of the retail sales area is limited to the sale of farm products 
produced on the farm on which the retail sales are taking place and the total area, 
both indoors and outdoors, used for the retail sales of all products does not exceed 
300 m2;  

Section 1 (1) "farm product" means a commodity that is produced from a farm use as defined in 
the Act or designated by this regulation. 

                                                
4 City of Kelowna Agriculture Plan (1998); p. 130. 
5 City of Kelowna Agriculture Plan (1998); p. 150 - 152. 

65



TA14-0002 – Page 7 

 
 

Farm retail sales — means the retail sale to the public of tangible products grown or raised on a 
farm, from that farm and may include the sale of non-farm products as permitted by the 
regulation.  

Retail sales area — means the floor area or dedicated outside area on which the farm retail sales 
are taking place and includes areas used for retail purposes inside buildings (indoors) and areas 
outside buildings (outdoors). It does not include parking, driveways, office space, washrooms or 
areas for processing or product storage. 

5.0 Technical Comments 

5.1 Building & Permitting Department 

Full Plan check for Building Code related issues will be done at time of Building Permit 
applications. 

5.2 Development Engineering Department 

a) The property is connected to the Municipal wastewater collection system. This application to 
legalize an existing eating establishment does not trigger any offsite upgrades. 

b) The subject property is located within the Black Mountain Irrigation District (BMID) service 
area. The applicant is to confirm that the water supply system is capable of supplying 
domestic and fire flow demands, for the contemplated uses on the subject property, in 
accordance with the Subdivision, Development & Servicing Bylaw. Ensure that every building 
within the property is located at an elevation allowing a water pressure within the Bylaw 
pressure limits. 

c) There are on-sites issues that have been identified in previous Engineering reports, such as 
the encroaching location of the sign and the accessibility of the existing loading bay. Both 
these issues must be addressed and corrected by the owner prior to the adoption of the zone 
amending Bylaw. 

  

66



TA14-0002 – Page 8 

 
 

5.3 Bylaw Services 

Bylaw Services have a number of concerns with respect to non-conforming uses and / or 
violations on the site, including: 

 Wedding / Event Venue on the farm is not a permitted use. Website currently advertises 
as such and having some noise and bylaw violations last summer. 

 Hall under construction over the currently constructed cherry packing plant. 

 No Special Events Licenses were obtained for wedding events last year. 

 Completion required to works on the adjacent 1071 McKenzie Road parcel. 

 Soil Permits for the event venue built and advertised on 570 and 500 Hwy 33 . 

 New application for a Non-farm Use Application to the ALC to allow weddings / events on 
the property. 

 Building Inspection for the house on the linked lot across Hwy 33 E, to determine if it is 
safe for occupancy. 

5.4 Fire Department 

The Fire department has no concerns with the zoning change as the building already exists. The 
concern is that the drawings indicate 6 bedrooms on the second floor - the BC Building Code 
requires a fire alarm be installed. BCBC Division B section 3.2.4.1(4)(I) indicates that a fire alarm 
shall be installed in a residential occupancy with sleeping accommodation for more than 10 
persons. Section 3.1.17.1(1)(b)indicates that the occupant load determination is 2 persons per 
sleeping unit. 

5.5 Real Estate Department 

Note that applicant recently made application to acquire portion of roadway to legalize existing 
loading bay, but the application was not supported by City staff. Parking requirements should be 
reviewed to ensure that parking and access issues are not exacerbated based on the cafe seating 
and commercial parking. 

5.6 Development Engineering Department 

a) The property is connected to the Municipal wastewater collection system. This application to 
legalize an existing eating establishment does not trigger any offsite upgrades. 

 
b) The subject property is located within the Black Mountain Irrigation District (BMID) service 

area. The applicant is to confirm that the water supply system is capable of supplying 
domestic and fire flow demands, for the contemplated uses on the subject property, in 
accordance with the Subdivision, Development & Servicing Bylaw. Ensure that every building 
within the property is located at an elevation allowing a water pressure within the Bylaw 
pressure limits. 

 
c) There are on-sites issues that have been identified in previous Engineering reports, such as 

the encroaching location of the sign and the accessibility of the existing loading bay. Both 
these issues must be addressed and corrected by the owner prior to the adoption of the zone 
amending Bylaw. 

  

67



TA14-0002 – Page 9 

 
 

5.7 Policy and Planning 

The subject property is located within that ALR and is designated REP - Resource Protection 
Area. The proposal to introduce a site specific text amendment to the A1 zone in order to permit 
an orchard cafe is challenging to overall policy direction, which seeks to protect and to enhance 
productive agricultural lands within the city. While this is a unique situation and is subject to 
stritct limitations in its ALC approval, Policy & Planning staff would strongly urge caution in 
considering further expansion on the property or further proliferation of the cafe concept to 
other orchard operations. 

6.0 Application Chronology  

Date of Application Received:  February 27, 2015 
 
Date Circulation Completed:   March 27, 2015  
 
 

Report prepared by: 

     
Melanie Steppuhn, Land Use Planner 
 
 

Reviewed by:  Todd Cashin, Subdivision, Agriculture & Environment Services 
Manager 

 
Reviewed by 
Approved for Inclusion:  Shelley Gambacort, Subdivision, Agriculture & Environment 

Services Director 
 

Approved for Inclusion:  Doug Gilchrist, Divisional Director, Community Planning & 
Real Estate 

 

Attachments:  

 
Attachment ‘A’ – Proposed A1 – Agricultural Zones Text Amendments 
Schedule ‘B’ – ALC Resolution #101/2014  
ALR Map 
Plans – Café 
Market / Café Elevations 
Context/Site Photos 
 

68



 Updated: 18/06/2015 

 

 
 
 

ATTACHMENT ‘A’ Proposed A1 – Agricultural Zones Text Amendments 
TA15-0002 

Section 
Existing Text Proposed Text Rationale 

Section 11 – 
Agricultural Zones 

Secondary Uses 

 

 
11.1.3 Secondary Uses 
The secondary uses in this zone are: 
(a) agricultural dwellings, additional 
(b) agri-tourism 
(c) agri-tourist accommodation (A1t only) 
(d) animal clinics, major 
(e) animal clinics, minor 
(f) bed and breakfast homes 
(g) care centres, intermediate 
(h) carriage house (A1c only) 
(i) forestry 
(j) group homes, minor 
(k) home based businesses, major 
(l) home based businesses, minor 
(m) home based businesses, rural 
(n) kennels and stables 
(o) secondary suite 

(p) wineries and cideries 

 
11.1.3 Secondary Uses 
The secondary uses in this zone are: 
(a) agricultural dwellings, additional 
(b) agri-tourism 
(c) agri-tourist accommodation (A1t only) 
(d) animal clinics, major 
(e) animal clinics, minor 
(f) bed and breakfast homes 
(g) care centres, intermediate 
(h) carriage house (A1c only) 
(i) forestry 
(j) group homes, minor 
(k) home based businesses, major 
(l) home based businesses, minor 
(m) home based businesses, rural 
(n) kennels and stables 
(o) secondary suite 
(p) wineries and cideries  
(q) Non-Farm Use in accordance with ALC 
Resolution #101/2014 attached as Schedule 
B to Section 11 – Agricultural Zones 
applicable only to Lot A, Section 24, 
Township 26 ODYD Plan EPP7145 (700 Hwy 
33 E).   

 

The subject property is zoned 
A1 which is the appropriate zone 
for this parcel. Based on the ALC 
Resolution #101/2014, the use 
of a food primary establishment 
in accordance with the 
conditions of that resolution, 
per Schedule B. 

 

Staff does not want to see food 
primary establishment added to 
the entire A1 zone as food 
primary establishments would 
not be appropriate on other 
parcels zoned A1 in the city, and 
are not permitted without an 
ALC Resolution where the A1 
parcels are also in the 
Agricultural Land Reserve. 

 

69



SCHEDULE 'B'

70



71



72



73



ALR

Application

TA15-0002

ALR

Subject Property

Map: 1,673 x 936 m -- Scale 1:9,878 2015-04-15

Certain layers such as lots, zoning and dp areas are updated bi-weekly. This map is for general information only.
The City of Kelowna does not guarantee its accuracy. All information should be verified.

Page 1 of 1Map Output

4/15/2015http://kelintranetd/servlet/com.esri.esrimap.Esrimap?ServiceName=Subject_Properties_Ar...

74



75



76



77



78



79



SUPPLEMENTAL REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
 
 

Date: June 15, 2015 

RIM No. 1250-30 

To: City Manager 

From: Suburban & Rural Planning (TC) 

Application: TA15-0002 Owner: Hillcrest Farm Market Inc. 

Address: 700 Hwy 33 E  Applicant: 
Chanchal Bal 
Barbara Bal 

Subject: 
Text Amendment to the A1 – Agriculture Zone to allow a Non-Farm Use (Café) 
at 700 Hwy 33 E  

Existing OCP Designation: Resource Protection Area (REP) 

Existing Zone: A1 - Agriculture 

 

1.0 Recommendation 

THAT Council receives, for information, the Supplemental Report from the Suburban & Rural 
Planning Department dated June 15, 2015 with respect to Zoning Bylaw Text Amendment No 
TA15-0002;  

AND THAT  Bylaw No. 11083 be forwarded to a Public Hearing for further consideration; 

AND THAT final adoption of the Text Amendment Bylaw be considered subsequent to the 
registration of a Section 219 Restrictive Covenant that restricts the Non-Farm Use of a Café to 
the existing owners only and is non-transferable, in accordance with the ALC Resolution 
#101/2014; 

AND FURTHER THAT final adoption of the Text Amendment Bylaw be considered subsequent to 
City of Kelowna requirements as outlined in Attachment D of the Supplemental Report dated 
June 15, 2015. 

2.0 Purpose 

To amend the A1 – Agriculture zone to permit the use of a primary food establishment (Café) at 
700 Hwy 33 E in accordance with Agriculture Land Commission Resolution # 101/ 2014. 

3.0 Subdivision, Agriculture & Environment Services  

At the May 4th 2015 Council meeting, Council passed First Reading on the subject property and 
directed staff to forward the application to Public Hearing.  On May 22nd  2015, staff received new 
information from Black Mountain Irrigation District (BMID) regarding water infrastructure 
requirements and fire protection capacity in the area.  Given the new information and the 
requirement for City staff to review the new information, staff recommended at the May 26th 
2015 Public Hearing that Council defer the application.  Staff have reviewed the new information 
as well as the potential issues to existing structures at 700 Hwy 33 East. 
 

80



TA14-0002 – Page 2 

 
 

Staff do support the Text Amendment for Hillcrest Farm subject to the completion of outstanding 
requirements noted through the circulation process including: 
 

 The occupancy load of the Café cannot exceed 30 persons; 

 A permanent sign be posted inside the Café that indicates the maximum occupant load of 
the cafe cannot exceed 30 persons at any given time; 

 The Hillcrest Farm sign including sign size and sign location be resolved; and 

 The number of access roads to Bal Place be resolved. 
 

and together with the conditions as resolved by the ALC (ALC Resolution attached): 

 Covenant on property that the use of the café will not transfer to future owners (in 
accordance with ALC Resolution #101/2014); and 

 Covenant on property that the café will not expand beyond the size approved by the ALC, 
without a resolution from the ALC authorizing the same. 

 
In addition, City staff recommend that Council also ensure that the remaining outstanding issues 
be resolved in a timely manner: 

 Occupancy of the cherry packing plant (under construction) cannot occur without 
sufficient fire flows and a fire alarm; 

 Occupancy load of the Temporary Farm Worker Housing at Bal Place cannot exceed 10 
persons without a fire alarm; 

 Submission of a Non-farm Use application for weddings & special events; 

 Resolution of loading dock location(s) including associated safe turning movements to Bal 
Place; 

 Development Permit requirements for the restoration of Francis Brook; and  

 Development Permit landscaping requirements for Temporary Farm Worker Housing on 
McKenzie Road.   

4.0 Proposal 

4.1 Background 

The subject property is part of a larger agricultural operation (three properties totalling 
approximately 35 hectares).  In addition to these parcels, the owners of the subject property also 
own additional agricultural parcels elsewhere (i.e. McCurdy Road). 

In November 2010, the landowner was issued a Building Permit to construct an approximately 800 
m2 accessory structure with two floors (i.e. ~400 m2/floor).  The Building Permit plans provided 
to the City reflected a main floor which was largely dedicated to the display and sale of fruit and 
vegetables with pie and jam preparation areas, large coolers and office space.  All seating 
appeared as picnic tables outside under the covered entry.  The second floor was shown with a 
four unit Bed & Breakfast facility with a manager/operator’s suite as is required to conduct this 
use.  Building & Permitting staff reviewed the plans submitted and made the following conditions 
of the issued Building Permit: 

2. See attached ALC Policy #2 dated March 2003 ACTIVITIES DESIGNATED AS FARM USE: 

FARM RETAIL SALES IN THE ALR.  Be advised that all of the farm product offered for sale 

must be produced on the farm on which the retail sales are taking place as the retail sales 

area exceeds the max 300 m2. 

Building & Permitting staff correctly noted that due to the size, to operate the building as 
proposed, the landowners may only retail farm product produced on this parcel or others 
operated by them.   

81



TA14-0002 – Page 3 

 
 

However, the building was not constructed as proposed.  Rather, the southern portion of the 
structure was altered to a café format with interior seating (see attached as-built floor plan and 
photos).  The café currently occupies approximately 276 ft2 indoors and 372 ft2 outdoor 
exclusively.  The café also occupies other areas of the structure which is estimated by the 
applicant to be an additional 1,090 ft2 with shared areas including the kitchen, pie preparation 
area and washrooms.  Staff notes that retail sales is considered an ‘ancilliary farm use’ under the 
Regulation as long as 50% of the product is grown on the farm and the area does not exceed 300 
square metres. 

A café is a use consistent with a “Food Primary Establishment”.  The use is not however, a 
permitted use in the ALR or in the City’s A1 – Agriculture zone.  An exception is where a Food 
Primary Establishment is developed in conjunction with a winery or cidery.   

The Hillcrest Farm Market Café as it is referred, began operating in the summer of 2012 and has 
been operating since that time.  The business is being operated without a City issued business 
license which cannot be issued given the non-conforming use in the zone and City Bylaw Services 
staff have been seeking compliance since this time.  This application addresses the legalization 
of this use. 

In 2014, Hillcrest Farm applied to the Agriculture Land Commission (ALC) for authorization to 
allow the Non-Farm Use of a ‘primary food establishment’ (café) along Hwy 33 E. The café was 
established without prior authorization by the City of Kelowna nor the Agricultural Land 
Commission (ALC) and is not a permitted use under the Agricultural Land Reserve Use, 
Subdivision and Procedure Regulation1 (the Regulation). The applicants subsequently applied for 
a Non-Farm Use to allow the café use and in March of 2014 received Resolution #101/2014 
(attached) to allow the use under the following conditions: 

1. That the café be limited to its current size and that there be submission of 
notification or an application to the Commission should there be plans in the 
future for any significant changes or plans to expand the current footprint. 

2. Approval for non-farm use is granted for the sole benefit of the applicant and is 
non-transferable. 

4.2 Project Description 

Staff recommends that the A1-Agriculture zone be amended to include the ALC Resolution # 
101/2014, to permit the use of a ‘primary food establishment’ at 700 Hwy 33 E, as outlined in 
Attachment A. 

4.3 Site Context 

The subject property is located east of Highway 33 E at the intersection with Springfield Road in 
the Rutland Sector.  The site area is ~5.8 hectares (14.3 acres) and the site elevation varies 
between 457 and 493 metres.  The subject property includes a ~0.22 ha hooked portion (across 
Hwy 33 E) which is zoned RU1 – Large Lot Housing.  

 

 

 

 

 

                                                
1
 RSBC, 2002. Agricultural Land Reserve Use, Subdivision and Procedure Regulation, incl. Amendments up 

to  BC Reg. 167/2014. http://www.bclaws.ca/civix/document/id/complete/statreg/171_2002 

82

http://www.bclaws.ca/civix/document/id/complete/statreg/171_2002


TA14-0002 – Page 4 

 
 

Map 1 - Subject Property – 700 Highway 33 E 

 

The subject property is at an urban/rural interface area with the Permanent Growth Boundary 
directly across Highway 33 (to the west).  The large road cross section (averaging approximately 
50 metres) does however provide extensive buffering from farm practices. Zoning and land uses 
adjacent to the property are as follows: 

Direction Zoning ALR Land Use 

North A1 – Agriculture 1 Yes Orchard 

South 
A1 – Agriculture 1 

Roadway 

Yes 

No 

Rural Residential 

Highway 

East A1 – Agriculture 1 Yes Rural/agricultural 

West 
A1 – Agriculture 1 

RU1 – Large Lot Housing 

Yes 

No 

Rural/agricultural 

Residential 

 

 

 

 

 

 

83



TA14-0002 – Page 5 

 
 

Map 2 – Hillcrest Farm Structures 

 

4.4 Current Development Policies 

4.5 Kelowna Official Community Plan (OCP) 

The subject property has a future land use designation of Resource Protection Area and relevant 
policies are included below: 

Objective 5.33 Protect and enhance local agriculture2. 

Policy. 1 Protect Agricultural Land. Retain the agricultural land base by supporting the ALR and 
by protecting agricultural lands from development, except as otherwise noted in the City of 
Kelowna Agricultural Plan. Ensure that the primary use of agricultural land is agriculture, 
regardless of parcel size. 

Policy .3 Urban Uses. Direct urban uses to lands within the urban portion of the Permanent 
Growth Boundary, in the interest of reducing development and speculative pressure on 
agricultural lands. 

Policy .7 Non-farm Uses. Support non-farm use applications on agricultural lands only where 
approved by the ALC and where the proposed uses: 

 are consistent with the Zoning Bylaw and OCP; 

 provide significant benefits to local agriculture; 

 can be accommodated using existing municipal infrastructure; 

 minimize impacts on productive agricultural lands; 

 will not preclude future use of the lands for agriculture; 

 will not harm adjacent farm operations. 

Objective 5.34 Preserve productive agricultural land3. 

Policy .3 Homeplating. Locate buildings and structures, including farm help housing and farm 
retail sales area and structures, on agricultural parcels in close proximity to one another and 

                                                
2 City of Kelowna 2030 Official Community Plan: Greening Our Future (2011), Development Process Chapter; p. 5.33.  
3 City of Kelowna 2030 Official Community Plan: Greening Our Future (2011), Development Process Chapter; p. 5.34.  

Cooler (lower) 

Worker Housing (upper)  

Packing Plant/ 

Offices 

Farm Worker 

Dwelling 

Farm Market/Café (lower) 

Bed & Breakfast (upper)  

84



TA14-0002 – Page 6 

 
 

where appropriate, near the existing road frontage. The goal should be to maximize use of 
existing infrastructure and reduce impacts on productive agricultural lands. 

4.1 City of Kelowna Agriculture Plan (1998) 

Farm Retail Sales 

For some time the use of agricultural land to sell products grown or reared on that farm 
operation has been permitted within the ALR. In addition, it was possible to receive permission 
from the Land Commission to sell products not produced on site under Regulation 313/78. In 
recognizing that farm retail sales contribute to the productive use of farmland without 
interfering or prohibiting agriculture the Land Commission has acknowledged the traditional role 
of marketing of farm products, particularly in the Okanagan. The Land Commission has 
established a policy that encourages retail activity associated with the direct sale of farm 
products, processed farm products, and some off-farm products subject to that portion of the 
retail sales building used for the sale of off farm products does not exceed one-third of the 
building floor area, up to a maximum of 100 square metres. In addition, where off-farm products 
are sold, farm products and processed farm products must also concurrently be offered for sale. 

ALR Application Criteria4 

Exclusion, subdivision, or non-farm use of ALR lands will generally not be supported.  General 
non-support for ALR applications is in the interest of protecting farmland through retention of 
larger parcels, protection of the land base from impacts of urban encroachment, reducing land 
speculation and the cost of entering the farm business, and encouraging increased farm 
capitalization. 

Economic Enhancement Policies5 

Integration. Support the establishment of a process to consider, in addition to the promotion of 
agri-tourism and direct farm marketing businesses within the community, an integrated approach 
that creates linkages to the cultural and heritage tourism sectors, in terms of marketing an 
identity of Kelowna. 

4.2 Zoning Bylaw 

11.1.7 (c) Agricultural and garden stands selling only produce grown on the site or another site 
operated by the same producer do not have a maximum area. The maximum gross floor area of 
stands selling produce that is produced off-site shall be 50.0 m². For sites within the Agricultural 
Land Reserve, the maximum gross floor area of agricultural and garden sales for produce 
produced off-site or off-farm products shall be the lesser of one-third of the total floor area of 
the agricultural and garden sales stand or 100.0 m². 

4.3 Agricultural Land Reserve Use, Subdivision and Procedure Regulation 

Section 2 (2) The following activities are designated as farm use for the purposes of the Act and 
may be regulated but must not be prohibited by any local government bylaw except a bylaw 
under Section 917 of the Local Government Act:  

(a) farm retail sales if  
(i) all of the farm product offered for sale is produced on the farm on which the 
retail sales are taking place, or  
(ii) at least 50% of the retail sales area is limited to the sale of farm products 
produced on the farm on which the retail sales are taking place and the total area, 

                                                
4 City of Kelowna Agriculture Plan (1998); p. 130. 
5 City of Kelowna Agriculture Plan (1998); p. 150 - 152. 

85



TA14-0002 – Page 7 

 
 

both indoors and outdoors, used for the retail sales of all products does not exceed 
300 m2;  

Section 1 (1) "farm product" means a commodity that is produced from a farm use as defined in 
the Act or designated by this regulation. 

Farm retail sales — means the retail sale to the public of tangible products grown or raised on a 
farm, from that farm and may include the sale of non-farm products as permitted by the 
regulation.  

Retail sales area — means the floor area or dedicated outside area on which the farm retail sales 
are taking place and includes areas used for retail purposes inside buildings (indoors) and areas 
outside buildings (outdoors). It does not include parking, driveways, office space, washrooms or 
areas for processing or product storage. 

5.0 Technical Comments 

5.1 Black Mountain Irrigation District  

Black Mountain Irrigation District has outlined the outstanding water servicing requirements and a 
number of concerns with the application (Attachment C).  More specifically, the concerns are: 

 No fire capacity to the area; 

 No fire hydrants; and 

 Limited flow capacity through the existing mains that service the area. 

5.2 Building & Permitting Branch 

Building & Permitting staff completed a full plan check for BC Building Code related issues at 
time of Building Permit application (April 2010).  Please note that this building was originally 
constructed as a Fruit Stand and Jammery with a Single Family Dwelling and a Bed and Breakfast 
on the upper floor. The cafe was added after Final Occupancy was granted.  
 
Further to the new information provided by BMID, Building & Permitting staff inspected (June 3, 
2015) the structure as it relates to Fire Department Access in the BC Building Code: 
   
For Part 9 Buildings the BC Building Code states: 

9.10.20.3 Fire Department Access To Buildings  
1) Access for fire department equipment shall be provided to each building by means of a 

street, private roadway or yard.  
 
Specific to the access requirement, staff identified that fire department access requirement was 
adequately provided at the time of inspection and further that both the Owners Unit and the Bed 
& Breakfast have the two required exits leading directly to the exterior.   
 
For Part 3 Buildings the BC Building Code states: 

3.2.5.7. Water Supply 
1) Every building shall be provided with adequate water supply for firefighting. 
2) Buildings that are sprinklered throughout with a sprinkler system conforming to 
Article 3.2.5.12 or have a standpipe system conforming to Article 3.2.5.9. to 3.2.5.11 
need not comply with Sentence 3.2.5.7.1 

Specific to the water supply requirement, staff identified that the cafe was nearly at capacity 
and the existing seating layout allowed a total seating for 28 people.  The Low Occupant Load for 
an Assembly Use permits less than 30 occupants.  If kept under 30 occupants, the building and 
the use are considered under Part 9 of the BC Building Code as a Personal and Business Services 
use and no water supply would be required for firefighting purposes.   

86



TA14-0002 – Page 8 

 
 

However, should the occupancy load in the cafe be greater than 30 occupants then the following 
Part 3 building requirements are required: 

 Adequate water supply to be provided for firefighting; 

 Building to be sprinklered; and 

 Fire alarm is required in the building. 
 
Based on this information, staff require that a permanent sign be posted inside that indicates the 
maximum occupant load of the cafe cannot exceed 30 persons at any given time. 

5.3 Kelowna Fire Department (KFD) 

The Kelowna Fire Department initially had no concerns with the Text Amendment given that the 
building already existed. 
 
However, further to the cafe being added and new information provided by BMID, KFD staff 
reviewed the structure as it relates to the BC Building Code and fire protection as it relates to 
the City of Kelowna’s Fire & Life Safety Bylaw: 
 

 At the time of reviewing the BMID report identifying flows and infrastructure, KFD staff 
are concerned that the existing fire flows and existing fire hydrant locations are 
insufficient to provide adequate fire protection to the structures on the property 
(including the cafe).  

 At the time of inspection (on May 25th), KFD staff were concerned with the number of 
sleeping units on the second floor given that the building plans indicate 6 bedrooms on 
the second floor and given that the BC Building Code indicates that a fire alarm shall be 
installed in a residential occupancy with sleeping accommodation for more than 10 
persons: 

o Division B, Section 3.2.4.1(4)(I)) - a fire alarm shall be installed in a residential 
occupancy with sleeping accommodation for more than 10 persons. 

o Division B, Section 3.1.17.1(1)(b) - the occupant load determination is 2 persons 
per sleeping unit. 

5.4 Development Engineering Branch 

Development Engineering have identified a number of bylaw requirements and outstanding non-
conforming issues on the farm including: 

 The applicant is to confirm with Black Mountain Irrigation District (BMID) that the water 
supply system is capable of supplying domestic and fire flow demands, for the 
contemplated uses on the subject property, in accordance with the Subdivision, 
Development & Servicing Bylaw.  The applicant is to also ensure that every building within 
the property is located at an elevation allowing water pressure within the Bylaw pressure 
limits. 

 Although not directly related to the Cafe, there are on-sites issues that have been 
identified in previous Development Engineering reports and must be addressed and 
corrected by the owner prior to the adoption of the Text Amendment.  The outstanding 
issues include: 

o Sign Location; 
o Loading Bay Accessibility & Turning Movements; and 
o Number of Driveways. 

 
 

87



TA14-0002 – Page 9 

 
 

5.5 Bylaw Services 

Although not directly related to the Cafe, Bylaw Services have a number of concerns with respect 
to non-conforming uses, outstanding issues and violations on the farm including: 

 The Hillcrest Farm Market website currently advertises both Wedding & Special 
Promotional Events.  The wedding and events venue on the farm is not a permitted use. 

 An application for a Non-farm Use to allow weddings / events on the property id required. 

 Bylaw staff received noise complaints and issued bylaw violations last Summer. 

 No Special Events Licenses were obtained for wedding events last year. 

 Completion of required Development Permit conditions on the adjacent farm parcel (1071 
McKenzie Road). 

 Building inspection for the house on the linked lot across Hwy 33 E, to determine if it is 
safe for occupancy. 

 Possible Assembly Hall being constructed above the cherry packing plant. 

5.6 Real Estate Services 

Real Estate Services have identified a couple of concerns with respect to outstanding issues on 
the farm including: 

 Parking requirements should be reviewed to ensure that parking and access issues are not 
exacerbated based on the commercial parking and seating required for the Market, Cafe 
and Bed & Breakfast. 

 The applicant recently made application to Real Estate staff to acquire a portion of 
roadway to legalize both a sign and an existing loading bay but the application was not 
supported by City staff. 

5.7 Policy & Planning 

Policy & Planning recognize that this is a unique situation and is subject to strict limitations in its 
ALC approval, Policy & Planning staff would strongly urge caution in considering further 
expansion on the property or further proliferation of the cafe concept to other farm operations. 

6.0 Application Chronology  

Date of Application Received:  February 27th, 2015 
Date Circulation Completed:   March 27th, 2015  
First Reading:     May 4th, 2015 
Application Deferred at Public Hearing: May 26th, 2015 

Report prepared by: 

     
Todd Cashin, Suburban & Rural Planning Manager 
 
 

Reviewed by:  Ryan Smith, Community Planning Department Manager 
 

Approved for Inclusion:  Doug Gilchrist, Community Planning & Real Estate Director 

88



TA14-0002 – Page 10 

 
 

 

Attachments:  

 
Attachment ‘A’ – Proposed A1 – Agricultural Zones Text Amendments 
Attahcment ‘B’ – ALC Resolution #101/2014  
Attachment ‘C’ – BMID Letter – Outstanding Water Servicing Requirments 
Attachment ‘D’ – City of Kelowna - Outstanding Bylaw Requirements 
Attachment ‘E’ – ALR Map 
Attachment ‘F’ – Plans – Café 
Attachment ‘G’ – Market / Café Elevations 
Attachment ‘H’ – Context/Site Photos 
 

89



90



91



92



93



94



95



96



97



98



99



100



101



102



103


	Agenda
	3.1 Lougheed Rd 205 Report Z14-0048.pdf
	3.1 Atachments TA14-0021.pdf
	3.2 McCurdy Pl 883 Report Z15-0012.pdf
	3.2 McCurdy Pl 883 Attachments Z15-0012.pdf
	6.1 TA15-0002 Hwy 33 E 700 - Cafe.pdf
	6.1 TA15-0002 ATTACHMENT A Hwy 33 E 700.pdf
	6.1 TA15-0002 Schedule B - ALC Resolution 101 2014.pdf
	6.1 TA15-0002 Attachments extra.pdf
	6.1 Hwy 33 E 700 Supplemental Report TA15-0002.pdf
	6.1 Hwy 33 E 700 Attachments TA15-0002.pdf

